# GRØNLANDS GEOLOGISKE UNDERSØGELSE GEUS RAPPORT Nr. 68

Report file no.

22390

The Geological Survey of Greenland Report No. 68

Estimates on the mass balance changes of the Inland Ice since Wisconsin-Weichsel

by

Anker Weidick

KØBENHAVN 1975

### Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse (The Geological Survey of Greenland) Øster Voldgade 10, DK-1350 Copenhagen K

#### Reports

No. 45 Report of activities, 1971. 1972. D.kr. 15.00 No. 46 Regional geology of early Precambrian high-grade metamorphic rocks in West Greenland. Part 1: Kângnaitsog to Ameralik. 1972 by B.F. Windley. D.kr. 15.00 No. 47 Geoelektriske resistivitetsmålinger ved permafrostundersøgelser i Holsteinsborg, Grønland. 1972 af K. Klitten & O. B. Olesen. D.kr. 10.00 No. 48 Report on the 1971 geological expedition to Scoresby Sund, East Greenland, 1972. D.kr. 30.00 No. 49 Notes on Greenland trace fossils. 1972 by R. G. Bromley & U. Asgaard. D.kr. 8.00 No. 50 Results from a geological reconnaissance around Svartenhuk Halvø, West Greenland. 1972 by V. Münther. D.kr. 9.00 No. 51 Progress report on the geology of the Fiskenæsset region, South-West Greenland. 1973. D.kr. 22.00 No. 52 Precambrian structures of the Ikorfat peninsula, Agto region, West Greenland. 1973 by L. Skjernaa. D.kr. 12.00 No. 53 Geological results of the 1971 expedition to central West Greenland. 1973. D.kr. 9.00 No. 54 Seismic velocity and sediment thickness investigations by refraction soundings in Nûgssuaq, West Greenland. 1973 by P. Vallabh Sharma. D.kr. 8.00 No. 55 Report of activities, 1972. 1973. D.kr. 18.00 No. 56 A survey of the economic geology of Greenland (exclusive fossil fuels). 1974 by B. Leth Nielsen. D.kr. 12.00 No. 57 Structural and lithological divisions of the western border of the East Greenland Caledonides in the Scoresby Sund region between 71°00' and 71°22' N. 1973 by P. Homewood. D.kr. 10.00 No. 58 Report on the 1972 geological expedition to Scoresby Sund, East Greenland, 1973. D.kr. 20.00 No. 59 Radiocarbon dated shell samples from Nordre Strømfjord, West Greenland, with comments on models of glacio-isostatic uplift. 1973 by M. Kelly. D.kr. 7.00 No. 60 The uranium deposit at Kyanefjeld, the Ilímaussag intrusion, South Greenland, Geology, reserves and beneficiation. 1974 by H. Sørensen et al. D.kr. 25.00 No. 61 The Precambrian geology of the Túngarnit nunât area, outer Nordre Strømfjord, central West Greenland. 1974 by J. Winter. D.kr. 8.00 No. 62 A dynamic model for a meniscus filled tunnel (Ancorichnus n. ichnogen.) from the Jurassic Pecten Sandstone of Milne Land, East Greenland. 1974 by C. Heinberg. D.kr. 9.00 No. 63 Offshore geology of northern West Greenland (69° to 75°N). 1974 by L. R. Denham. D.kr. 15.00 No. 64 The pollen stratigraphy of late Quaternary lake sediments of South-West Greenland. 1974 by M. Kelly & S. Funder. D.kr. 15.00 No. 65 Report of activities, 1973. 1974. D.kr. 21.00 D.kr. 19.00 No. 66 Geochronological studies in Greenland, 1974. No. 67 The Krummedal supracrustal sequence around inner Nordvestfjord, Scoresby Sund, East Greenland. 1974 by A. K. Higgins. No. 68 Estimates on the mass balance changes of the Inland Ice since Wisconsin-Weichsel, 1975 by A. Weidick.

# GRØNLANDS GEOLOGISKE UNDERSØGELSE RAPPORT NR. 68

Estimates on the mass balance changes of the Inland Ice since Wisconsin-Weichsel

by

Anker Weidick

#### Abstract

The extent of the Inland Ice during the last ice age reveals a pleniglacial equilibrium with a low accumulation. A postglacial equilibrium with high accumulation is indicated by relatively constant extent of the ice during the last 5000-6000 years.

The climatic change from pleniglacial to postglacial conditions is considered to have taken place around 12 500 B.P., the subsequent recession of the Inland Ice expressing its adaption to a new equilibrium state.

The form and shape of the Inland Ice is such that the initial postglacial warming-up only slightly increased the ablation area and thus loss by ablation. The actual loss of volume between 12 500 and 6000 B.P. can therefore only be explained by a continuous period of low average accumulation lasting until 8000 B.P.

Since the Inland Ice must have been close to the lower threshold of its existence in postglacial time, its total disappearance during a warm interglacial period cannot be excluded, but is still beyond final proof.

# CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Pleniglacial equilibrium of the Inland Ice	5
Extent	5
Climate and accumulation	6
Glaciation limit and equilibrium line	7
Average ablation over the ablation area	8
Mass balance	8
Postglacial equilibrium of the Inland Ice	9
Extent	9
Mass balance estimates	10
End of pleniglacial equilibrium	11
Initial change of climatic conditions	11
Rise of the glaciation limit	11
Calving	12
Accumulation and mass balance	12
Postglacial shrinkage of the Inland Ice	13
Rate and magnitude of the shrinkage	13
Increase of the ablation zone	13
Changes in ablation	13
Calving	15
Comparisons with glaciations outside Greenland	15
Extent of the Wisconsin-Weichsel glaciations	15
End of late Wisconsin-Weichsel	16
Greenland during Wisconsin-Weichsel	16
Postglacial (Holocene) development in Greenland	17
Limits of existence of the Inland Ice	18
Interglacial disappearance of the Inland Ice	19
Acknowledgements	19
References	20



Fig. 1. Present glaciation limits expressed as isoglacihypses over Greenland, Altitudes in hundred of metres.

### INTRODUCTION

The Inland Ice is considered to have reached close to its last maximum at 15 000 **B**. P. when it covered most of the coastal region. The purpose of this paper is to discuss the changes in mass balance of the Inland Ice during the change from pleniglacial to postglacial equilibrium; in this context, 'pleniglacial' refers to the climatic conditions connected with an Inland Ice covering most or all of the coast-land, and 'postglacial' the range of climatic conditions at the present extent of the Inland Ice. To simplify the discussion the two equilibrium stages are considered to be marked by relatively constant climates, and the transition between the two climatic states, as indicated by the Camp Century curve, is considered to be of short duration.

The Inland Ice is the only ice sheet in the northern hemisphere capable of establishing pleniglacial and postglacial states of equilibrium. The relatively small changes of this ice sheet since Wisconsin-Weichsel lead naturally to a consideration of the factors limiting its existence and the possibilities of total or partial disapperance under interglacial climatic conditions.

## PLENIGLACIAL EQUILIBRIUM OF THE INLAND ICE

#### Extent

Evidence from central East Greenland shows that during the later part of Wisconsin-Weichsel the Inland Ice did not extend so far out to sea as during older glaciations, or the earlier part of Wisconsin-Weichsel (Funder & Hjort, 1973). Tedrow (1970) records a similar situation for the Inland Ice of Inglefield Land in North Greenland, though the interstadial dating here must be questioned.

In southern West Greenland shells collected from the moraines of Frederikshåbs Isblink have given an age of 21 710  $\pm$  400 B. P. (I–7622; collector D. Heling), and shells from undisturbed marine silts at Sanerâta timâ near Fiskenæsset, a few kilometres west of the fjord stage moraines (8400–8100 B. P.), have been dated at 13 380  $\pm$  175 B. P. (I–7624; collector A. Weidick).

The oldest moraine stage (Taserqat) in central West Greenland, situated 20-40

km from the outer coast, is with reservations ascribed a Younger Dryas or Preboreal age (Weidick, 1972 b). There have been numerous investigations of the area (Donner & Ljungner, in press; Kelly, 1973; Laursen, 1972; Sugden, 1972; Ten Brink, 1972; Weidick, 1968, 1972 a), but although there are many dates no marine deposits older than Holocene have been found *in situ* and it is thought that the Younger Wisconsin-Weichsel may have reached the open sea, and possibly the banks. Information from other parts of Greenland, however, leaves the question very much open, and some schliffgrenzen in the Sukkertoppen area fit into the concept of the Taserqat moraines as the maximum boundary of the Inland Ice during a considerable period.

As the Inland Ice margin during Wisconsin-Weichsel cannot be precisely defined, it suffices to presume a limit in West Greenland at or on the present offshore banks, while in East Greenland it reached the open sea in branches through the fjords. In North Greenland it can also be assumed that the Inland Ice covered large areas out at sea, since the Holocene glacio-isostatic uplift is of comparable magnitude to that of other areas.

Restrictions on the areal extent of the Inland Ice are mainly imposed by the sea. The calving component will increase with increasing length of ice margin in direct contact with the sea, and under pleniglacial conditions in particular this will not be compensated by accumulation. Extensive shelf ice areas during Wisconsin-Weichsel seem possible in the region off Independence Fjord and Jørgen Brønlund Fjord in North Greenland. These might explain the peculiar form and trend of the coastal Wisconsin-Weichsel moraines of Peary Land, and the distribution of erratic boulders along the coast (Dawes, 1970). A further possible shelf ice area during Wisconsin-Weichsel is the Melville Bugt region of northern West Greenland. Ice shelves of the dimensions envisaged here would be of Ellesmere Island type rather than Antarctic type, and be in an equilibrium of their own. In view of the uncertainties involved in the following discussion, the question of existence of the ice shelves does not significantly affect the mass balance of the Inland Ice.

A general eustatic lowering of sea level of about 100 m during the ice ages would mean that parts of the western Inland Ice margin would be grounded on the present banks, but even so a larger proportion of the margin than at present would be bounded by the sea, and the calving component would accordingly be relatively greater.

#### **Climate and accumulation**

Strong anticyclonic conditions are dominant over Greenland in summer as well as winter, and lead to low precipitation. With a temperature gradient along the surface of the ice sheet of  $1^{\circ}$ C per 100 m and  $1^{\circ}$ C per degree latitude (Benson, 1962) and with depression of the glaciation limit to 600–700 m below that at

present, climatic conditions during Wisconsin-Weichsel can be reconstructed by envisaging a transition of present day conditions to a position 7–10 degrees of latitude to the south. Accumulation over the Inland Ice would then scarcely exceed 15 cm water equivalent annually, and might be closer to 10 cm. Correlation of the Camp Century ice core record with that of a North Atlantic deep sea core led Imbrie (1972) to conclude that accumulation during the last glacial maximum was  $40 \ 0/0$  of the present, i. e. about 14 cm water equivalent per annum.

With a surface area of  $2.3 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup> (Flint, 1971), a surface profile similar to the present and a lowering of the glaciation limit by 600–700 m, the ablation area would at most be about  $2^{0/0}$  of the total area of the Inland Ice  $(0.05 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup>) and the accumulation area 98  $^{0/0}$  ( $2.25 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup>). It follows from the flow laws of ice (Orowan, 1949) that there is a relationship between diameter and height of an ice sheet (Dansgaard *et al.*, 1973), and that the surface profile of the Inland Ice during the glacial epoch was therefore close to the present.

#### Glaciation limit and equilibrium line

A general lowering of the glaciation limit (the lower limit of formation of glaciers) by 700 m during Wisconsin-Weichsel has been stated by Kaiser (1969) for the Arctic areas of Eurasia. In southern Greenland the occurrence of a lower cirque formation level near present sea level indicates a lowering of the glaciation limit by about the same amount. The glaciation limit varies by about 100 m from the equilibrium line for mass balance or the observable firn line, but for simplicity all 'snow lines' are assumed to be sited in a 200 m wide zone in this account, and the glaciation limit is considered to be an equilibrium line (Weidick, 1968).

It is also assumed that the shift in glaciation limit from glacial to postglacial position was only in a vertical sense, and did not involve changes in the dome-shaped form (fig. 1) of the glaciation limits of Greenland: the 'Massenerhebungs-effect'. This accords with observations in other glaciated areas such as the Alps (Klebelsberg, 1948; Kaiser, 1969).

Figure 2 shows that because of the interference of the Inland Ice profile and the glaciation limit profile, a lowering of the present glaciation limit by 600–700 m brings it down to a maximum altitude approximately 400 m above the former sea level, i. e. 300 m above the present sea level. The mean altitude of the pleniglacial glaciation limit might then be close to present day conditions at the outer coasts in the Thule area and in the northern part of Melville Bugt.

Figure 2 shows an idealised section through central Greenland. The height of the basement is estimated as a mean of West and East Greenland and its importance in this context is the decrease in ablation area and especially in the ablation with increasing height of basement.



Fig. 2. Idealised east-west section through the present coastland in central Greenland show the marginal basement and simplified estimates on average 'net ablation'

The lowering of the glaciation limit by 600–700 m may only be true for the southern and central parts of Greenland. In North Greenland a smaller lowering of the present glaciation limit would lead to a diminution of the accumulation zone over the whole Inland Ice surface so that loss is only possible by calving at ice shelves. However, in the same area a very low accumulation must be envisaged at the same time.

#### Average ablation over the ablation area

The best estimate for the average pleniglacial ablation, in view of the discussion above, can be derived from the present ablation values for the Thule area, that is about 50–70 cm water equivalent per annum (Schytt, 1955; Nobles, 1960; Griffiths, 1960).

#### **Mass balance**

The calving component when the Inland Ice is in equilibrium must be the deficit between total gain (accumulation over the accumulation area) and the loss due to general ablation (average ablation over the ablation area). The estimates for pleniglacial mass balance based on the considerations discussed above are shown



niglacial and present glaciation limits, recessional stages and adherent average elevation of inected to present glaciation limit as a function of altitude. a: ablation gradient.

Table	1.	Estimates	of	the	plenig	lacial	mass	balance
-------	----	-----------	----	-----	--------	--------	------	---------

Accumulation area	2.25×10 <sup>6</sup> km	Mean accumulation	12–15 cm water equiv./a.
Ablation area	0.05×10 <sup>6</sup> km	Mean ablation	50–70 cm water equiv./a.
Total area	$2.30 \times 10^6$ km		
Total gain	c. 30.	km <sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.	
Loss by ablation	c. 30	km <sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.	
Loss by calving	c. 27.	km <sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.	

in table 1. The pleniglacial volume, which will be discussed below, is estimated at  $3.21 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup> water equivalent.

# POSTGLACIAL EQUILIBRIUM OF THE INLAND ICE

#### Extent

Many different values for the area of the present Inland Ice have been proposed, the discrepancies being partly accounted for by variations in the quality of maps of Greenland, but mainly the problem of delineating the Inland

Accumulation area	1.44×10 <sup>6</sup> km <sup>2</sup>
Ablation area	0.29×10 <sup>6</sup> km <sup>2</sup>
Total area	$1.73 \times 10^{6} \text{ km}^{2}$
Volume	$2.35 \times 10^{6}$ km <sup>3</sup> water equivalent
Mean accumulation	31 cm water equiv./a.
Mean ablation	110 cm water equiv./a.

Table 2. Data for the present Inland Ice according to Holtzscherer & Bauer (1954)

Table 3. Estimates for the present mass balance of the Inland Ice All figures in km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent per annum

	Loewe	Bauer	Bader	Benson
	(1936)	(1955)	(1961)	(1962)
Gain	425	446	630	500
Loss by ablation	295	315	120-270	272
Loss by calving	150	215	240	215
Deficit	-20	-84	+120-+270	+13

Table 4. Estimate for postglacial mass balance of the Inland Ice

Accumulation area Ablation area	1.44×10 <sup>6</sup> km <sup>2</sup> 0.29×10 <sup>6</sup> km <sup>2</sup>
Total area	$1.73 \times 10^{6} \text{ km}^{2}$
Total gain Loss by ablation Loss by calving	<ul> <li>c. 500 km<sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.</li> <li>c. 295 km<sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.</li> <li>c. 205 km<sup>3</sup> water equiv./a.</li> </ul>

Ice from marginal local ice caps. The estimates of Bauer (Holtzscherer & Bauer, 1954) are used in this account (Table 2) with regard to area and volume.

#### Mass balance estimates

A number of mass balance estimates have previously been made (Loewe, 1936; Bader, 1961; Benson, 1962; Bauer, 1955, and *in* Holtzscherer & Bauer, 1954), and their conclusions are summarised in table 3. Values of mean accumulation vary from 31 to 37 cm water equivalent per annum, and those for ablation from 107 to 110 cm.

Loewe and Benson both estimate a nearly balanced ice sheet. Bauer's conclusion of a small shrinkage fits in with the slight marginal retreat of the Inland Ice in this century, as measured directly from trim line zones (Weidick, 1968). Bader considered that while the ice margin was retreating the interior of the Inland Ice was increasing in volume. If true, the interior of the Inland Ice is increasing in volume by 8–19 cm water equivalent annually, but no conclusive observations have been made.

The estimates of the mass balance presented in table 3 are based on direct measurements of three parameters, though the figures for ablation and magnitude of calving in particular are unreliable. As the ice margin has not changed greatly throughout the past 5000–6000 years it is, however, reasonable to accept the approximate state of equilibrium presented in table 4. Vertical pulsations or kinematic waves of the Inland Ice (Georgi, 1959; Haefeli & Brandenberger, 1968) seem to have been of secondary significance, at least during the last 5000–6000 years.

### END OF PLENIGLACIAL EQUILIBRIUM

#### Initial change of climatic conditions

An abrupt change from pleniglacial to postglacial conditions is recorded by the Camp Century ice core (Dansgaard *et al.*, 1971). The limit in the isotope curve is sharp, and appears to represent a break from fairly constant pleniglacial temperatures to fairly constant postglacial temperatures at 12 500 B. P. The Camp Century record as an expression of temperature change may, however, be slightly exaggerated as the  $O^{16}/O^{18}$  ratio increases in sensitivity with increase in altitude and the surface of the Wisconsin-Weichsel Inland Ice must have been several hundred metres higher than at present.

There are also possibilities of minor variations in the time-scale of the Camp Century record (Dansgaard, *et al.*, 1973; Imbrie, 1972; Sancetta *et al.*, 1973) but in the context of this account it is the occurrence of the abrupt climatic shift which is significant rather than its precise age.

#### Rise of the glaciation limit

The initial response to the change in climate must have been a rise of the glaciation limit to about its present altitude of 800 m above contemporary sea level (fig. 1), leading to an increase in ablation area from  $c. 0.05 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup> to  $0.1 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup>. The proximity of the Inland Ice to the sea would mean a large ablation gradient (figs 1 & 2), and an average ablation over the ablation area of close to 1 m water equivalent per annum. Total loss by ablation would increase to about 80 km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent annually.

#### Calving

An initial acceleration of calving is to be expected with the warming up, and it could have risen to  $380-360 \text{ km}^3$  water equivalent per annum. The loss by calving would hardly be less than during the pleniglacial period, and the pleniglacial figures may be viewed as a minimum. Also the eustatic rise of sea level, approximately 0.9 m/100 years between 15 000 and 7 000 B.P. must have increased the calving, especially during its initial phase with large parts of the ice margin in contact with the sea (Benson, personal communication).

#### Accumulation and mass balance

A generally stable high pressure environment over the Laurentide ice sheet and the Inland Ice would probably not permit any great increase in the mean accumulation. Since the Inland Ice began to shrink accumulation can hardly have exceeded 18 cm water equivalent per annum. The mass balance position is summarised in table 5.

Accumulation area Ablation area	2.20×10 <sup>6</sup> 0.10×10 <sup>6</sup>	km² km²		Mean Mean	accumulation ablation	18 cm water equiv./a. 80 cm water equiv./a.
Total area	2.30×10 <sup>6</sup>	km²				
Total gain	c.	396	km³	water	equiv./a.	
Loss by ablation	с.	80	km <sup>3</sup>	water	equiv./a.	
Loss by calving	c.	360	4m <sup>3</sup>	water	equiv./a.	
Deficit	c.	44	km <sup>3</sup>	water	equiv./a.	

Table 5. Initial postglacial shrinkage of the Inland Ice mass balance

# POSTGLACIAL SHRINKAGE OF THE INLAND ICE

#### Rate and magnitude of shrinkage

In both West and East Greenland shrinkage began before or about 10 000 B. P., and retreat continued with minor interruptions until about 6000 B. P. when the ice margin position was close to or less than the present situation. In North Greenland retreat of the Inland Ice margin seems to have been initiated somewhat later, and in southernmost Greenland somewhat earlier than these dates (Weidick, 1972b).

There remain uncertainties as to details of the initial recession before or about 10 000 B. P., but two important points seem to be valid:

(1) The recession rate culminated somewhat earlier than 8000 B. P.

(2) Nearly all recession occurred during a period of 5000–6000 years.

The volume of the Inland Ice at present is according to Bauer (Table 2)  $2.35 \times 10^6$  km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent, from which Flint (1971) derived an estimate of  $3.5 \times 10^6$  km<sup>3</sup> ice, i. e.  $3.2 \times 10^6$  km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent, for the volume of the pleniglacial Inland Ice. This figure is based on an area of maximum glaciation of  $2.3 \times 10^6$  km<sup>2</sup>, which is larger than the late Wisconsin-Weichsel Inland Ice, and the present mean altitude of 1.5 km for the Inland Ice, which is too low according to the pleniglacial profiles. It is, however, the best available estimate and corrections will not significantly affect the trends of fig. 3.

The total loss between the two equilibrium stages based on these figures is  $0.8 \times 10^6$  km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent. The volume change, based on key areas in West and East Greenland taking the linear rate of retreat as a model, will be as given in fig. 3e.

#### Increase of the ablation zone

With shrinkage of the Inland Ice the intersection between the ice surface and the glaciation limit will increase in altitude (cf. fig. 2) and the area of the ablation zone will thus increase. However, this will be partially compensated by the rise in mean altitude of the Inland Ice margin from near sea level at the maximum extent to 700–800 m as at present. Fig. 3b shows the trend of change of the ablation area.

#### **Changes** in ablation

The rise of the glaciation limit during recession (fig. 2) should increase average ablation over the ablation area. However, with the increase in distance from

Fig. 3. Changes in the mass balance through Holocene time.

a. The average recession of the Inland Ice margin according to Weidick (1972a, b). The recession is also converted to volume shrinkage.

b. Shrinkage of the total area (A) and the accumulation area  $(A_c)$  and the coherent growth of the ablation area  $(A_b)$ . The ablation area is corrected for altitude of marginal basement.

c. Loss by ablation in  $km^{3/}$  year of water equivalent according to the change in the ablation area given in b.

d. Loss by calving in km<sup>3</sup>/ year.

e. Loss in volume due to the shrinkage according to the trend given by the volume change in a.

f. Accumulation (cm water/ year) required to match the losses given by the curves of c, d and e.



the sea there is a tendency to greater continentality over the ice margin causing a lower ablation gradient. In coastal areas the gradient must be close to that of Norwegian and Spitzbergen glaciers, and with increasing distance from the sea an ablation gradient similar to that of Loewe (1934) will be approached. The average ablation over the ablation area during recession is thought to have had a value close to that of the present: about 1 m water equivalent per annum. The amount of ablation during recession of the Inland Ice is shown in fig. 3c.

#### Calving

The magnitude of the calving component can only be estimated indirectly. While an initial increase in calving might result with warm-up of the ice margin, recession will cause a decrease of calving as the land rim widens, thresholds and land barriers grow and possibilities for exudation channels become fewer.

With increase in distance from the sea the amount of calving would decrease in linear proportion. Since volume loss and ablation are known the required accumulation during recession would then be lower in postglacial time than during pleniglacial conditions, which seems unlikely. On the other hand, if constant accumulation since Wisconsin-Weichsel is presumed, the amount of calving would increase in the initial stages of retreat to about 700 km<sup>3</sup> water equivalent annually at 8000 B. P. Such exceptionally high postglacial production of calf ice would be expected to leave marked traces in offshore deposits, but this does not seem to have been the case.

These are the extreme possibilities of the calving component variation, and it seems most likely that there was a minor initial increase in calf ice production with warm-up, followed by a decrease as the coastal rim of land widened. This compromise viewpoint (fig. 3d) also implies a trend to increasing precipitation and accumulation by the end of Boreal time at 8000 B. P.

### COMPARISONS WITH GLACIATIONS OUTSIDE GREENLAND

#### Extent of the Wisconsin-Weichsel glaciations

The Wisconsin-Weichsel glaciation lasted from 70 000 to 10 000 B. P., divided into two phases by an interstadial or group of interstadials lasting from 50 000 to 25 000 B. P (the Upton Warren interstadial complex) which incorporated minor readvances of the ice sheets. The great ice sheets remained in existence throughout the period, the marginal oscillations reflecting more closely climate fluctuations than during build up of the ice sheets at the beginning of Wisconsin-Weichsel. It is envisaged that a persistent cold climate through 5000–10 000 years (Lamb & Woodroffe, 1970) or 15 000–30 000 years (Weertman, 1964; Barry, 1966) was required for establishment of major ice sheets. During early Wisconsin time some sectors of the Laurentide ice sheet in North America were 50–100 km beyond the late Wisconsin position, while at other places the late Wisconsin margin was similarly placed or even more advanced than in the early Wisconsin. The older Wisconsin moraines of Baffin Island mark the maximum extent of glaciation (Andrews, 1973), and a similar situation was concluded, with reservations, for East Greenland (Funder & Hjort, 1973). The position of the Scandinavian ice sheet of Europe and the presumed Barents Sea ice sheet over Spitzbergen and Franz Josef Land during early Weichsel are not clearly defined. Nowhere, in fact, is information sufficient to enable comparisons of the two phases of glaciation to be made with any great confidence, but in Arctic areas there seems to be a tendency for the older phase to be more extensive than the younger.

Reglaciation at the end of the last interstadial was generally intense. A number of radiocarbon dates from south of the Great Lakes indicate that the ice sheet there entered Ohio at 25 000 B. P. and reached its last maximum at 20 000 to 18 000 B. P. (Goldthwait *et al.*, 1965). Fluctuations of the Scandinavian ice sheet of this age, as well as others slightly older, can be included in the Upton Warren interstadial complex. An interstadial period at 31 000–20 000 B. P. has been recorded in the Alps near Baumkirchen in the inner Inn valley, ending with the last Würm advance between 20 000 and 11 000 B. P. (Fliri *et al.*, 1970).

#### End of late Wisconsin-Weichsel

While the Laurentide ice sheet reached its last maximum at 18 000-20 000 B. P. at the southern margin, it retained this maximum position until 13 000-12 000 B. P. at the north-west and until 8000 B. P. at the north-east margins (Andrews, 1973). The persistence of the northern margins is explained by mass balance variations in sectors where lobes change from calving to land-based situations, and by increase in winter accumulation.

In Europe recession of the ice sheets appears to have been initiated at about 20 000-16 000 B. P.

### **GREENLAND DURING WISCONSIN-WEICHSEL**

The presumed development of Wisconsin-Weichsel in Greenland is based essentially on the chronology of Funder & Hjort (1973) established for central East Greenland. Here two advances are recognised, the older termed Flakkerhuk and the younger Milne Land. The intervening Jameson Land interstadial has provided three radiocarbon dates between 24 300 and 19 500 B. P. and four of 33 600 to more than 40 000 B. P.; it might be better to refer to a Milne Land interstadial complex correlateable in time with the Upton Warren interstadial complex.

The younger group of dates within such a Milne Land interstadial complex can be compared with dates from Frederikshåbs Isblink in West Greenland and Inglefield Land in North Greenland. The wide distribution of similar dates in Greenland and North America seems to witness to a widespread warm spell markedly limiting the older boundaries of the late Wisconsin-Weichsel stadial. There is no indication here of a precipitation conditioned time lag such as that of 10 000 years between climatic change and recession for sectors of the postglacial Laurentide ice sheet. It is therefore presumed that the low accumulation of Wisconsin-Weichsel was maintained throughout at least the last interstadial.

Climatic development during Wisconsin-Weichsel is fully covered by the Camp Century record (Dansgaard *et al.*, 1971, 1973). There are discrepancies between the summary of stadials and interstadials of Wisconsin-Weichsel by Richmond (1970, fig. 5) compared to the Camp Century record. These may be due to errors in the geological time scale or the Camp Century time scale.

# POSTGLACIAL (HOLOCENE) DEVELOPMENT IN GREENLAND

Several radiocarbon dates from South Greenland suggest a relatively early deglaciation. Drift wood in a beach ridge at Narssaq town is dated at 9410 B. P. (I-7664; collector K. Gade Sørensen), at a distance of 29–40 km from the present Inland Ice margin. Shell datings at Narssarssuaq a few kilometres from a present lobe of the Inland Ice gave 8760 B. P. (I-7667; collectors J. Mangerud, H. Valeur & A. Weidick), while at Qagssiarssuk nearby, a basal gyttja of a lake gave 8530 B. P.; biological activity presumably began about 9000–8500 B. P. (Fredskild, 1973).

Dates from north of Frederikshåbs Isblink at Saneråta timå indicate that the Inland Ice maintained its position here from 13 380 to 8000 B. P. and there is no evidence of early deglaciation. Standstill in such an isolated sector could, however, be explained as an indirectly climatically conditioned 'glacial capture'; general thinning of the ice margin and a sinking of the ice margin may have led to greater topographic control of the ice drainage, such that this sector received contributions from neighbouring sectors. Comparable sector deviations during retreat of the ice margin are known during this century (Weidick, 1968).

The deglaciation of central East Greenland, based on studies over a 300 km stretch from Scoresby Sund to Geographical Society  $\emptyset$  (Funder & Hjort, 1973),

seems to have involved a climatically conditioned stand-still of the Inland Ice margin until 10 000 B. P.

Onset of deglaciation in North Greenland is presumed to have occurred at or shortly before 8000-6000 B. P. (Weidick, 1972b).

In East and North Greenland it is possible that an increased winter accumulation contributed to maintenance of the Inland Ice margin for a time. The increase in accumulation may have been initially restricted to the fringe of the Inland Ice, gradually spreading and leading to a general accumulation increase in connection with the gradual warming up of the North Atlantic waters and the disappearance of the Laurentide ice sheet.

Meteorological conditions over the North Atlantic gradually approached that of the present with the shrinkage of the Laurentide ice sheet, a position reached about 6000 B. P. (Lamb, 1972).

Ruddiman & McIntyre (1973) indicate a recession of polar waters in the North Atlantic beginning around or after 17 000 B. P. and continuing, apart from a readvance at 10 000 B. P., until normal postglacial conditions were achieved at 6000 B. P.

### LIMITS OF EXISTENCE OF THE INLAND ICE

In the above discussion it has been suggested that the ablation area increases with distance of the ice sheet margin from its maximum extent during Wisconsin-Weichsel whereas the calving component decreases. If the height of the equilibrium line (glaciation limit) is kept under constant postglacial conditions and the reduction of the Inland Ice continued beyond its present limits a continuation of the calving component and the ablation as a function of the distance from the Wisconsin-Weichsel maximum would require the accumulation shown in fig. 4. Since with increase of height of the marginal basement to the Inland Ice margin the ablation is reduced continuously the calculated ablation area is a minimum and the curve shows the minimum accumulation required.

It is conceivable that the reduction of the Inland Ice to a point 300 km from its Wisconsin-Weichsel situation 100 km further inland than at present might exceed the limits for its existence due to the size of accumulation required for its maintenance.

Around 6000-5000 B. P. the Inland Ice margin did retreat beyond its present position and shell material in shear moraines and marginal moraines indicates a position for some lobes 10-20 km inland from their present state. Subsequently an increase in accumulation brought the Inland Ice to its present mass balance.





Fig. 4a. Estimated maximum (upper line) and minimum (lower line) loss by calving in km<sup>3</sup>/year water equivalent versus distance of ice margin from its maximum extent in Wisconsin-Weichsel  $(d_m)$ .

b. Accumulation required to maintain the mass balance versus distance of the ice margin from its maximum extent during Wisconsin-Weichsel  $(d_m \text{ being } 0 \text{ for the Wisconsin-Weichsel position of the ice margin}).$ 

## INTERGLACIAL DISAPPEARANCE OF THE INLAND ICE?

An apparent high sea level 4-6 m above present sea level during the Sangamon-Eem interglacial led Mercer (1968) to propose melting of the West Antarctic ice sheet. Emiliani (1969) suggested the high interglacial terrace levels might rather result because of significant melting of the Inland Ice of Greenland. The problem of an interglacial disappearance cannot be solved satisfactorily with present knowledge of the mass balance of the Inland Ice and the altitude and age of the interglacial marine terraces. It is possible that the Inland Ice is at present close to its existence threshold.

Fig. 4b was constructed by assuming the present altitude for the equilibrium line of the Inland Ice. A rise of a few hundred metres of the equilibrium line will move the system expressed by the curve towards the left side. As the Sangamon formation of Toronto seems to indicate a mean annual temperature as much as  $2^{\circ}-3^{\circ}$  C above the present, an interglacial disappearance of the Inland Ice cannot be excluded (Flint, 1947). The problem should be reassessed when better data on present mass balance and the former volumes of the Inland Ice become available. A total disappearance of the Inland Ice might also have left its mark in deep sea cores as a decrease of iceberg transported material.

#### Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to A. K. Higgins for improving the English text, to S. Funder for much information on East Greenland Quaternary problems and to C. Benson for critical comments.

- Andrews, J. T. 1973: The Wisconsin Laurentide ice sheet; dispersal centers, problems of rates of retreat, and climatic implications. Arctic Alpine Res. 5, 185-199.
- Bader, H. 1961: The Greenland Ice Sheet. Rep. Cold. Reg. Res. Engng Lab. I-B2, 18 pp.
- Barry, R. G. 1966: Meteorological aspects of the glacial history of Labrador-Ungava with special reference to atmospheric vapour transport. *Geogr. Bull.* 8, 319-340.
- Bauer, A. 1955: The balance of the Greenland ice sheet. J. Glaciol. 2, 456-462.
- Benson, C. 1962: Stratigraphic studies in the snow and firn of the Greenland ice sheet. Res. Rep. Cold. Reg. Res. Engng Lab. 70, 93 pp.
- Dansgaard, W., Johnsen, S. J., Clausen, H. B. & Langway, C. C. 1971: Climatic record revealed by the Camp Century ice core. In Turekeian, K. (edit.) The late Cenozoic glacial ages. 37-56. Yale U. P.
- Dansgaard, W., Johnsen, S. J., Clausen, H. B. & Gundestrup, N. 1973: Stable isotope glaciology. Meddr Grønland 197, 2, 53 pp.
- Dawes, P. R. 1970: Quaternary studies in northern Peary Land. Rapp. Grønlands geol. Unders. 28, 15-16.
- Donner, J. J. & Jungner, H. in press: On the marine Holocene deposits in the area south of Disko Bugt, West Greenland.
- Emiliani, C. 1969: Interglacial high sea levels and the control of Greenland ice by the precession of the equinoxes. *Science* 166, 1503–1504.
- Flint, R. F. 1947: Glacial geology and the Pleistocene epoch. 589 pp. Wiley & Sons (fourth print, 1953).
- Flint, R. F. 1971: Glacial and Quaternary geology. 892 pp. Wiley & Sons.
- Fliri, F., Bortenschlager, S., Felber, H., Heissel, W., Hilscher, H. & Resch, W. 1970: Der Bänderton von Baumkirchen (Inntal, Tirol). Z. Gletscherkunde Glazialgeol. 6, 5-35.
- Fredskild, B. 1973: Studies in the vegetational history of Greenland. Palaeobotanical investigations of some Holocene lake and bog desposits. *Meddr Grønland* 198, 4, 245 pp.
- Funder, S. & Hjort, C. 1973: Aspects of the Weichselian chronology in central East Greenland. Boreas 2, 69-84.
- Georgi, J. 1959: Der Rückgang des Jacobshavns Isbræ (West-Grönland 69° N). Meddr Grønland 158, 5, 53-70.
- Goldthwait, R. P., Dreimanis, A., Forsyth, J. L., Karrow, P. F. & White, G. W. 1965: Pleistocene deposits of the Erie lobe. *In* Wright, H. E. & Frey, D. G. (edit.) *The Quaternary of the United States.* 85–97. Princeton U. P.
- Griffiths, T. M. 1960: Glaciological investigations in the TUTO area of Greenland. Tech. Rep. Cold. Reg. Res. Engng Lab. 47, 63 pp.
- Haefeli, R. & Brandenberger, F. 1968: Rheologisch-glaziologische Untersuchungen im Firngebiet des Grönländischen Inlandeises. Meddr Grønland 177, 1 (also Expedition Glaciologique Internationale Groenland 1957–1960, 5, 2) 340 pp.
- Holtzscherer, J.-J. & Bauer, A. 1954: Contribution à la Connaissance de l'Inlandsis du Groenland. Publs Ass. int. Hydrol. scient. 39, 244-296 (also [Publs] Expéd. polair. Françaises 37).
- Imbrie, J. 1972: Correlation of the climatic record of the Camp Century ice core (Greenland) with foraminiferal paleotemperature curves from North Atlantic deep-sea cores. *Abstr.* program geol. Soc. Amer. 4 (7), 550 only.
- Kaiser, K. 1969: The climate of Europe during the Quaternary ice age. In Wright, H. E. (edit.) Quaternary geology and climate. Nat. Acad. Sci. 16, 10-37.
- Kelly, M. 1973: Radiocarbon dated shell samples from Nordre Strømfjord, West Greenland, with comments on models of glacio-isostatic uplift. *Rapp. Grønlands geol. Unders.* 59, 20 pp.

- Klebelsberg, R. 1948: Handbuch der Gletscherkunde und Glazialgeologie. Vol. 1 (403 pp.) & Vol. 2, (1028 pp.) Springer Verlag, Wien.
- Lamb, H. H. 1972: Atmospheric circulation and climate in the Arctic since the last ice age. In Vasari, Y., Hyvärinen, H. & Hicks, S. (edit.) Climatic changes in Arctic areas during the last ten thousand years. Acta Universitatis Ouluensis, Series A, Scient. Rerum Naturalium No. 3. Geologica No. 1, 455–498.
- Lamb, H. H. & Woodroffe, A. 1970: Atmospheric circulation during the last ice age. Quat. Res. 1, 29-58.
- Laursen, D. 1972: Samples collected in Disko Bugt-Egedesminde region, West Greenland. In Weidick, A. (edit.) C<sup>14</sup> dating of Survey material performed in 1971. Rapp. Grønlands geol. Unders. 45, 58-67.
- Loewe, F. 1934: Zur Frage der Gletscher-Ablation in Westgrönland. In "Einige Gletscherbeobachtungen im Umanag-Bezirk Westgrönlands 1932". Zeitschr. Gletscherkunde 21, 360-363.
- Loewe, F. 1936: Höhenverhältnisse und Massenhaushalt des grönländischen Inlandeises. Gerlands Beitr. Geophysik 46, 317-330.
- Mercer, J. H. 1968: Antarctic ice and Sangamon sea level. Publs Ass. int. Hydrol. scient. 79, 217-225.
- Nobles, L. H. 1960: Glaciological investigations, Nunatarssuaq ice ramp, Northwestern Greenland. Tech. Rep. Cold Reg. Res. Engng Lab. 66, 57 pp.
- Orowan, E. 1949: Joint meeting of the British Glaciological Society, the British Rheologist's Club and the Institute of Metals. J. Glaciol. 1, 231-240.
- Richmond, G. M. 1970: Comparison of the Quaternary stratigraphy of the Alps and Rocky Mountains. *Quat. Res.* 1, 3-28.
- Ruddiman, W. F. & McIntyre, A. 1973: Time-transgressive deglacial retreat of polar waters from the North Atlantic. *Quat. Res.* 3, 117–130.
- Sancetta, C., Imbrie, J. & Kipp, N. G. 1973: Climatic record of the past 130 000 years in North Atlantic deep-sea core V23-82: Correlation with the terrestrial record. Quat. Res. 3, 110-116.
- Schytt, W. 1955: Glaciological investigations in the Thule Ramp area. Tech. Rep. Cold Reg. Res. Engng Lab. 28, 88 pp.
- Sugden, D. 1972: Deglaciation and isostasy in the Sukkertoppen Ice Cap area, West Greenland. Arctic Alpine Res. 4, 97-117.
- Tedrow, J. C. F. 1970: Soil investigations in Inglefield Land, Greenland. *Meddr Grønland* 188, 3, 93 pp.
- Ten Brink, N. 1972: Holocene delevelling and glacial history between Søndre Strømfjord and the Greenland ice sheet, West Greenland. Ph. D. Thesis, Univ. Washington.
- Weertman, J. 1964: Rate of growth or shrinkage of non-equilibrium ice sheets. J. Glaciol. 5, 135–158.
- Weidick, A. 1968: Observations on some Holocene glacier fluctuations in West Greenland. Bull. Grønlands geol. Unders. 70 (also Meddr Grønland 165, 6) 202 pp.
- Weidick, 1972a: Holocene shore-lines and glacial stages in Greenland an attempt at correlation. *Rapp. Grønlands geol. Unders.* 41, 39 pp.
- Weidick, A. 1972b: Notes on Holocene glacial events in Greenland. In Vasari, Y., Hyvärinen, H & Hicks, S. (edit.) Climatic changes in Arctic areas during the last ten thousand years. Acta Universitatis Ouluensis, Series A, Scient. Rerum Naturalium No. 3, Geologica No. 1, 177-204.

